# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. TYLER SAVAGE, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable Linda C.J. Lee, Judge BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER H. GISON Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#

### INTRODUCTION

The State charged eighteen-year old Tyler Savage with aggravated first degree murder, claiming he killed K.D., a sixteen-year old girl, by strangling her with her shirt and bra during the course of a forcible rape, and then hid her body. The State also alleged K.D. was particularly vulnerable because cognitive deficiencies caused her to function at the level of a ten to twelve-year old.

Savage, who knew K.D. before her death, denied being aware of her cognitive deficiencies, and initially denied knowing what happened to her, although he admitted being with her the day she went missing. After repeated contacts with the law enforcement Savage eventually told them that he and K.D. had been exploring the neighborhood and eventually ended up sitting and talking in a grass field. When K.D. got up to leave, Savage did not want her to go so he choked her with his arm until he realized she was dead. In an attempt to make it look like something else had happened, Savage removed her clothes, tied her shirt and bra around her neck and inserted his fingers into her vagina before tossing her body into nearby blackberry bushes.

Savage recanted his confession at trial, stating he made it up because he did not think the truth was believable. Savage claimed the truth was that when they were talking in the grass field, K.D. invited Savage to have sex with her. When Savage agreed, K.D. asked him to tie something around her neck while they had sex.<sup>1</sup> Although Savage expressed concern, K.D. assured him it was safe and that she had done it before, so he complied by tying her bra and shirt around her neck.

Savage recalled K.D. smiling at him as he tied the clothes around her neck, and then kissing her briefly before noticing she was no longer moving. He assumed she was dead. Scared, Savage removed the rest of her clothes, inserted his fingers in her vagina and then tossed her body into some nearby blackberry bushes and fled.

A jury convicted Savage as charged and the court imposed a life sentence without the possibility of parole. Savage appeals.

### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court deprived Savage of his right to present a defense when it erroneously excluded evidence of K.D.'s internet history, which revealed she regularly visited pornography sites, including ones depicting outdoor sex, bondage and choking.

Presumably this was for purposes of "erotic asphyxiation," which Wikipedia defines as "the intentional restriction of oxygen to the brain for the purposes of sexual arousal." http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Erotic asphyxiation (as of 1/20/15)

- 2. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that to find Savage committed the predicate rape, the State had to prove K.D. was alive at the time of penetration.
  - 3. Savage was denied effective assistance of counsel.

### <u>Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>

- 1. The State's theory at trial was that Savage knowingly took advantage of K.D.'s cognitive deficits to lure her into a secluded place to rape and kill her. Did the trial court err by excluding evidence that K.D. regularly viewed pornographic sites, including those depicting outdoor sex, bondage and choking, when this evidence supported Savage's claim that K.D. instigated the sexual contact and when it rebutted the State's assertion that K.D. was a particularly vulnerable victim due to her child-like nature when it came to sex and where such evidence is not excluded under RCW 9A.44.020 (aka "Rape Shield" statute)?
- 2. The charge of first degree aggravated murder was premised on Savage having killed K.D. in the course of committing a forcible rape. Under the circumstances of this case, did the trial court err in refusing to instruct the jury that to find Savage guilt as charged, it had to conclude K.D. was alive at the time Savage penetrated her to constitute the predicate rape because, if it occurred after she was dead, it would only

constitute the crime of sexually violating human remains,<sup>2</sup> a Class C felony that does not qualify as a predicate offense to aggravate the murder charge?<sup>3</sup>

3. If the trial court did not error by failing to instruct the jury that it had to find K.D. was alive at the time Savage penetrated her to constitute the predicate rape because defense counsel failed to propose the proper instruction, then was Savage denied his right to effective assistance of counsel?

### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Procedural Facts

In August 2010, the Pierce County prosecutor charged appellant Tyler Savage (d.o.b. 7/28/92), with aggravated first degree murder for the death of his friend, K.D., a sixteen-year old girl (d.o.b. 3/15/94). CP 1-2; RP<sup>4</sup> 1147. The prosecutor claimed that on August 17, 2010, Savage lured K.D. to a secluded field, and when she tried to leave he strangled her to death, then removed her clothes, touched her breasts, inserted his fingers into her vagina and then tossed her body into nearby blackberry bushes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This offense is codified at RCW 9A.44.105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This appears to be an issue of first impression in Washington.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There are eighteen consecutively paginated volumes of verbatim report of proceedings collectively referred to as "RP."

CP 3-4. The prosecutor filed an amended information in April 2011 adding allegations that the offense was sexually motivated and that K.D. was a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 5.

A jury found Savage guilty as charged. CP 345, 349-50. On January 17, 2014, the court imposed a life sentence without the possibility of parole. CP 375-86; RP 2066-67. Savage appeals. CP 389-401.

### 2. Substantive Facts

### a. Facts leading to Savage's arrest

When Cecil Daily returned home from work on August 17, 2010, he learned his daughter, K.D., had not returned at 3 pm when she was suppose to, was not at her friend Tamara's house where she was suppose to have been, and did not answer calls to her cell phone. RP 1144. Daily called police to report her missing. RP 1144-45.

A search for K.D. was instigated on August 18, 2010, and continued without success into August 23, 2010. RP 1262-76. Meanwhile, Pierce County Sheriff detectives learned several people claimed they saw K.D. bike riding midday on August 17th with Savage walking alongside. RP 1184, 1199-1200, 1204-06, 1208-10, 1212-14.

Detectives contacted Savage on August 18th to see what he knew. RP 1328-29, 1454. Savage admitted he had been with K.D. briefly on the

17th, stating he ran into her on his way from the store, but that they only walked for a couple of minute before parting ways. RP 1330-31; 1455-56.

Unable to locate K.D. by August 23rd, detectives decided to seek Savage's assistance, as he was still the last person known to have been with her. RP 1464-65. Savage agreed to show them where he and K.D. had gone on the 17th. RP 1466. Afterwards, Savage agreed to accompany them to headquarter to provide a statement. RP 1474-75.

In that statement, Savage repeated his claim that he met K.D. while returning from the store and she asked him to show her where he lived, and that she left him at a street on the way to Savage's that she said she was not allowed to cross. Ex. 75 at 4-5, 8-10. After the recorded interview, Savage revealed that on August 17th, he and K.D. had agreed over Facebook to meet that day because K.D. wanted Savage to show her where he lived. RP 1487-88. Savage said after showing her where his home was in relation to the street she could not cross he went on his way, unaware whether K.D. was continuing to follow him. RP 1486-90.

After the interview Savage agreed to help locate areas where someone might have dumped a body. RP 1491. The detective arranged for search dogs to look for K.D. in the areas Savage suggested, but nothing turned up. RP 1493.

At one point while the dogs were searching, one of the detectives confronted Savage, stating they knew K.D. was dead and that Savage had killed her. RP 1573-74. Savage started crying and nodding his head affirmatively. Savage then led them to her body. RP 1574, 1578-79.

K.D.'s dead body was found naked with her bike on top of her in blackberry bushes with a shirt and bra tied around her neck. RP 1579. When asked what happened, Savage explained that he and K.D. had been sitting in the field for 15-20 minutes. When K.D. wanted to leave, Savage said he choked her to death and did not know why. RP 1580-81. Savage was then informed he was under arrest and transported back to headquarters to provide another statement. RP 1581-82.

In a second recorded statement, Savage reiterated that he choked K.D. to death when she got up to leave. Ex. 84 at 8-9. He explained further that once he realized she was dead he panicked and decided to try to make her death look like a rape, so he removed the rest of her clothes, tied the shirt and bra around her neck, touched her breasts and eventually inserted two fingers into her vagina before hiding her, her clothes and her bike into the blackberry bushes. Ex. 84. at 10, 33-36

### b. Savage's trial testimony

Savage recanted his confession at trial. Savage met K.D. a few years before her death. RP 1755. They became Facebook friends. RP

1756. Savage was aware of a limp in K.D.'s gait, but was unaware of any cognitive deficits she might have. RP 1757; see also Ex. 84 at 27 (Savage agrees K.D. seemed like a normal sixteen year old teenager). Savage denied any romantic interest in K.D., but admitted learning a few weeks before her death that K.D. had a crush on him. RP 1758-59.

Savage recalled communicating with K.D. through Facebook on the morning of August 17th. RP 1760. Savage accepted K.D.'s invitation to meet up after his stepfather came home. Savage's stepfather returned at about 2 pm and Savage and K.D. met up shortly thereafter. RP 1761-62. Savage complied with K.D.'s request to see where he lived. RP 1762-63.

After they saw Savage's house they went to a grassy field to hang out. RP 1766-68. While in the field K.D. asked Savage if he wanted to have sex with her. Savage thought she was joking at first, but when she said she was serious, he agreed. RP 1768. She then directed him to tie something around her neck. When he balked, she assured Savage it was safe and that she had done it before. K.D. removed her shirt and bra and Savage tied them around her neck as she had directed. RP 1769. K.D. smiled at him and they began kissing as they lay in the field and Savage touched her body, to which she seemed to respond accordingly. RP 1769-70. At one point, however, she became motionless. Savage shook her but she did not respond. She was not breathing. RP 1770.

Thinking no one would believe what had actually happened, Savage panicked. In his panicked state, savage removed the rest of K.D.'s clothes, put his fingers into her vagina and then hid her and her belongings in the nearby blackberry bushes and left. RP 1770-72.

Savage testified he lied in his statements to police because he did not think they would believe the truth. RP'1773-75. Savage denied ever intending to rape, kill or cause K.D. any harm. He also asserted that he believed K.D. was dead when he stuck his fingers in her vagina. RP 1775.

### c. The prosecution's theory of the case

The prosecution sought to prove Savage committed the charged crime with sexual motivation and that K.D. was a particularly vulnerable victim to the crime. In an effort to show K.D. was a particularly vulnerable victim, the prosecution introduced evidence about K.D.'s physical and cognitive deficits. For example, over defense objection the prosecution elicited testimony from K.D.'s father that she was born with fetal alcohol syndrome and clubbed feet (which required several surgeries to repair), had been in special education classes since she was three, regularly participated in Special Olympics, and was functioning only at a 5th grade level at the time of her death. RP 1147-48, 1152, 1154-55, 1157-58.

The prosecution was also allowed to present in rebuttal over defense objection the testimony of Teresa Lockey, one of K.D.'s former special education teachers. RP 1876-93. Lockey testified that K.D.'s physical and cognitive deficits were obvious to those she interacted with. RP 1878.

The prosecution emphasized the testimony of Daily and Lockey in closing argument. RP 1929-30, 2025-26. The prosecution argued Savage's claim that K.D. asked him to choke her while they had sex was "worse fiction" than the book *50 Shades of Grey*.<sup>5</sup> RP 1995. The prosecution implied several times that Savage's claim that K.D. insisted on having "kinky sex" with him was preposterous and lacked "emotional truth," "medical truth" and "physical truth." RP 1995, 2002-04, 2010. In some of his final remarks to the jury, the prosecutor claimed;

There really isn't a lot of plausible dispute to her vulnerability. . . . We know she was the living definition of a vulnerable victim. . . . She was a vulnerable girl who had a crush on a guy who killed her. He exploited that vulnerability. He got her alone. Didn't want anyone to know about it, and that's why she never left there alive.

RP 2025-26

<sup>5</sup> E.L. James, 50 Shades of Grey (Vintage 2012).

### d. Excluded defense evidence

Anticipating the prosecution would portray K.D. as a sexually naïve ten to eleven-year-old child in the body of a sixteen-year-old teenager, the defense moved pretrial to introduce thirteen video clips found in her internet browser history<sup>6</sup> from the few days preceding her death. CP 178-223. These clips, which were culled from approximately 550 pornographic web sites she visited between July 7, 2010, and August 16, 2010, indicate K.D. had an interest in outdoor and/or public acts of sex that involved bondage, choking and vaginal insertions. CP 182, 193-219.

Savage argued the evidence is relevant to whether K.D. consented to her encounter with Savage. Savage noted the acts depicted in the proposed video clip evidence were similar to his encounter with K.D. and lent support to his claim that she consented to being asphyxiated for purposes of enhanced consensual sex. Savage claimed the evidence was also relevant to refuting the prosecution's claim that K.D. was a particularly vulnerable victim because it shows she was not as sexually naïve as the prosecution claimed. CP 184-192; RP 790-809.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> K.D. lived with her father and grandmother, both of whom had their own computers. RP 1142, 1167. K.D.'s father testified he never used K.D.'s computer except to fix problems with it when they arose. RP 1168.

The trial court repeatedly rejected the defense attempts to have the video clip evidence deemed admissible. RP 820-25,<sup>7</sup> 1047,<sup>8</sup> 1190-93,<sup>9</sup> 1349,<sup>10</sup> 1812.<sup>11</sup> The court stated its analysis would be different if there was evidence K.D. had previously engaged in actual asphyxiation/bondage sex, but that merely viewing depiction of it did not constitute conduct indicating she was more likely to consensually engage in such conduct with Savage. RP 821-22.

### e. Denied defense proposed jury instructions

The defense proposed the following two instructions in support of its contention the jury had to conclude K.D. was alive and Savage knew it when he penetrated her vagina with his fingers in order to find the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Initial ruling denying the defense motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ruling denying defense request to introduce evidence that law enforcement failed to investigate the pornography found on K.D.'s computer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Court denies defense claim that the prosecution opened the door to the pornography evidence when it asked K.D.'s father what it was like "raising an 11-year-old girl in a 16-year-old's body?" RP 1175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Court denies defense's second request to introduce the evidence to show how sloppy the investigation was.

Court denies defense renewed motion to introduce pornography evidence based on the prosecution's opening the door by asking Savage in an incredulous tone, "So you're saying this 16-year old developmentally disabled girl with the capacity of an 11-year-old wanted to have super kinky sex with you?" RP 1777.

predicate rape necessary for guilty verdict on the aggravated murder charge;

A person commits the crime of rape in the first degree when he engages in sexual intercourse with another living person, knowing the other person is living, by forcible compulsion when he kidnaps the individual or inflicts serious physical injury.

CP 75.

A person is no longer living when an individual who has sustained either (1) irreversible cessation of circulatory and respiratory functions, or (2) irreversible cessation of all functions of the entire brain including the brain stem.

CP 77.

The court refused to give either instruction. It concluded that whether Savage knew K.D. was dead or alive at the time he penetrated her was irrelevant to whether his conduct constituted a first degree rape. RP 1742-43, 1912-13. Similarly, the court noted there was no "living" element listed in the first degree rape statute, and so it refused to instruct the jury it had to find K.D. was alive at the time of penetration to constitute a rape. RP 1913.

### C. ARGUMENTS

1. THE COURT DEPRIVED SAVAGE OF HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

Excluding evidence of the sex videos K.D. was viewing in the days before she died was error. It unfairly prevented the defense from rebutting the prosecution's evidence, which tended to portray K.D. as a naïve young child in a teenager's body. Because the evidence was relevant, crucial to the defense theory and, under the circumstances, admissible under the Rape Shield statute, the trial court erred in refusing to admit it at trial. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, guarantee the right to trial by jury and to defend against the State's allegations. These constitutional guarantees provide persons accused of crimes the right to present a complete defense. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 648, 81 P.3d 830 (2003) (citing Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986)). The right to present a defense is a fundamental element of due process. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297, 93 S. Ct. 1038 (1973); Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019, 87 S. Ct. 1920 (1967); State v. Wittenbarger, 124

Wn.2d 467, 474, 880 P.2d 517 (1994); State v. Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175, 181, 550 P.2d 507 (1976).

Evidence is relevant if it tends to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. ER 401. Relevant evidence may only be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. ER 403. "Evidence tending to establish a party's theory, or to qualify or disprove the testimony of an adversary, is always relevant and admissible." State v. Harris, 97 Wn. App. 865, 872, 989 P.2d 553 (1999).

"[I]f relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." [State v.] Darden, 145 Wn.2d [612], 622, [41 P.3d 1189 (2002)]. The State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence must also "be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought," and relevant information can be withheld only "if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need." Id. We must remember that "the integrity of the truth finding process and [a] defendant's right to a fair trial" are important considerations. State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). We have therefore noted that for evidence of high probative value "it appears no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22." Id., at 16.

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720.

The defense theory was that K.D. died by accidental asphyxiation from the shirt and bra she convinced Savage to tie around her neck. Evidence of K.D.'s recent interest in outdoor sex involving choking and bondage was relevant because it corroborated Savage's claim that it was K.D. who instigated being strangled and rebuts the notion that she is sexually naïve or otherwise particularly vulnerable.

The evidence should not have been excluded under RCW 9A.44.020, Washington's rape shield statute. The statute provides,

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