### NO. 45913-2

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

### TYLER SAVAGE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Linda C.J. Lee, Judge

No. 10-1-03608-5

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

"creat[ing] substantial prejudice to the truth finding process ..." of a trial. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 783, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)(rape victim's prior acts of prostitution properly excluded). The rape shield law recognizes a victim's prior sexual behavior is not predictive enough of future consent to meet the bare relevancy test of ER 401.<sup>5</sup> See *Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 10. Under limited circumstances history of a sexual relationship between a defendant and victim may be admissible as might a victim's *modus operandi* for acquiring sexual partners; however, to be relevant there must be particularized—not generalized—factual similarities connecting the prior behavior to sexual contact the defendant claims to be consensual. RCW 9A.44.020(3); *Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d at 784-85; *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *State v. Morley*, 46 Wn.App. 156, 730 P.2d 687 (1986).

Defendant continues to advocate for the admissibility of Kimmie's alleged proclivity for bondage from the prohibited inference a person is more likely to have wanted a particular kind of sex with the accused, or others indiscriminately, because the person was privately interested in that type of sex in the abstract. Permitting this outmoded syllogism to prevail in this case because the alleged behavior is unusual would only create an incentive for rapists to tailor attacks to a victim's known interests, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> ER 401 "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

may in this digital age be inadvertently or freely shared with would-be assailants through careless or carefree use of the Internet.

State v. Posey rejected a similar attempt to introduce computer evidence of a victim's expressed sexual interests to prove consent to subsequent sexual assaults apparently catering to those interests. 161 Wn.2d 638, 649, 167 P.3d 560 (2007). Unlike defendant, Posey actually had an intimate relationship with his victim prior to the offense underling his rape charges. 161 Wn.2d 641. But like defendant, Posey sought to introduce an e-mail police located on the victim's computer as evidence of consent. Id. at 642, 648. The e-mail was written around the time the victim met Posey and stated she "would enjoy being raped and ... wanted a boyfriend that would choke her and beat her." Id. at 642. The Supreme Court held "admission of the e-mail violat[ed] the rape shield statute." Id. at 649. In doing so, the Court made it unmistakable "potential sexual mores" are not admissible to prove a victim's consent to pursuing them with the defendant absent proof the victim shared them with the defendant. See Id. at 641-42, 649. At the heart of the decision is a common sense appreciation for the reality a mere expression of interest in a particular kind of sex is far less predictive of future conduct than a past instance of actually engaging in it with another person:

"People might talk about something, but it is very different talking about it then actually doing it. Anybody who's had an e-mail correspondence with anybody knows it's easy to say things during that correspondence that you wouldn't necessarily say to their face." 161 Wn.2d at 649.

Anyone who has ever watched a film or read a book treating an extreme aspect of human behavior must similarly know curiosity in the conduct of others is often far removed from any plan to expose oneself to consequences of engaging in that behavior. *See* ER 201.

The rape shield law was enacted to put an end to the disgracefulpredominately sexist practice of putting a rape victim's life on trial. *See Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 10-11. It is difficult to conceive of an interpretation of RCW 9A.44.020 more antithetical to its purpose than one which would permit defendants to prove a victim's consent to a charged sexual assault by exposing the jury to the sexually explicit websites the victim might have visited, books she might have read, or movies she might have watched, prior to the incident. *See Posey*, 161 Wn.2d at 649; *see also e.g.*, *Com. v. Widmer*, 446 Pa.Super. 408, 421, 667 A.2d 215 (1995) *reversed on other grounds* 547 P.a. 137, 689 A.2d 211 (1997)(defendant not permitted to adduce evidence of "the victim's appetite for risky sex ... to bolster claim of consent...."). In contrast, the trial court's challenged ruling was consistent with the statute's intent as well as the decision in *Posey*, so it is incapable of being accurately characterized as a manifest abuse of discretion. Defendant mistakenly compares his case to *State v. Carver*, 37 Wn. App. 122, 124, 678 P.2d 842 (1984). *Carver* addressed the unrelated issue of whether evidence of prior sexual abuse should be admitted to provide an explanation other than defendant's guilt for a precocious sexual knowledge exhibited by extremely young children while testifying. There was no similar testimony to rebut in defendant's case, nor was Kimmie ever established to be someone who could have only learned about bondage from defendant. *E.g.*, RP 1047, 1190-93, 1349, 1812. Her well documented disabilities only evinced the particular vulnerability the State was obligated to prove. *E.g.* RP 1047, 1190-93, 1349, 1812. Defendant failed to establish the court erred in preventing him from using Kimmie's unverified internet activity to show she wanted him to strangler her.

## b. <u>Any relevance adhering to the pornography was</u> <u>substantially outweighed by the danger of undue</u> <u>prejudice attending its use</u>.

RCW 9A.44.020 (d) calls for a balancing process where the probative value of the evidence must substantially outweigh the probability its admission will create a substantial danger of undue prejudice. *See Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d at 12, 14. The standard is considerably more exacting than ER 403, which requires excluded evidence to be substantially more prejudicial than probative. RCW 9A.44.020 (d)'s more stringent gate-keeping provision is consistent with traditional evidentiary

law mandating the exclusion of evidence that interferes with the truth seeking function of trial. *Id*.

Although the trial court did not reach the issue of the pornography's prejudicial effect, the challenged ruling may be affirmed on that basis.<sup>6</sup> 5RP 820-24; *State v. Cervantes*, 169 Wn. App. 428, 433, 282 P.3d 98 (2012)(citing RAP 2.5). As the proponent of the excluded evidence, defendant bore the burden of establishing its proper purpose. *See Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d at 12-14; *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). The proffered theory of admissibility is dependent on this faulty syllogism:

**Major Premise**: Teenage girls who privately view bondage pornography on their laptops are more likely to consent to being strangled during sexual encounters with other people than teenage girls who have not viewed bondage pornography on their laptops.

**Minor Premise**: Kimmie *may have* privately viewed bondage pornography on her laptop.

**Conclusion**: Kimmie was more likely to have consented to being strangled by defendant during a sexual encounter.

See Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 10; State v. Bell, 60 Wn. App. 561, 565, 805 P.2d 815 (1991) (victim's reputation as a homosexual inadmissible to prove action in conformity on the night of his murder). If one assumed Kimmie actually viewed the pornography, the court could have rationally found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> At trial the State argued the pornography was irrelevant character evidence violative of ER 404(a) that was too prejudicial for admissibility under both RCW 9A.44.020 and ER 403. 5RP 816; CP 437.

any probative value adhering to this flawed chain of inferences could not be substantially more probative than prejudicial as required for admissibility under RCW 9A.44.020(d), or even survive ER 403's greater tolerance for prejudicial effect.

The pornography's already inadequate probative value was further abated by the possibility someone other than Kimmie used the laptop. The trial court noted the absence of any direct evidence Kimmie viewed the pornography while issuing the challenged ruling. 5RP 822. It would not have been manifestly unreasonable for the court to conclude the abundance plausible alternative explanations for the pornography's presence on the laptop made the circumstantial link to Kimmie too attenuated to survive any prejudice. Meanwhile, the pornography was extremely prejudicial due to its inherent capacity to insight the jury's moral condemnation of anyone associated with the behavior it condoned. *See Bell*, 60 Wn. App. at 565. The pornography would have been properly excluded on account of its prejudicial effect if the trial court had not accurately recognized its irrelevance.

### c. <u>The challenged ruling was harmless if error</u>.

Any non-constitutional error attending the exclusion of evidence is harmless if within reasonable probabilities it did not affect the trial's outcome. *State v. Russell*, 104 Wn.App. 422, 434, 16 P.3d 664 (2001)(citing *State v. Calegar*, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997)).

The exclusion of the pornography did not deprive defendant the ability to defend against the aggravated murder with evidence that complied with the rape shield statute. See State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). The jury heard defendant's taped confession that he choked Kimmie from behind when she tried to leave him, tied her clothing around her neck, inserted his fingers in her vagina, and discarded her body in a bush before heading home to relax with a video game. Ex. 83-84. The autopsy established the admitted vaginal penetration preceded Kimmie's death by ligature strangulation. 12RP 1669-70, 1672-75, 1694. Defendant conceded he never suggested Kimmie's death was accidental or that the strangulation was consensual while discussing the incident with police. 14RP 1775. He illogically explained the omission at trial in terms of him finding it more difficult to admit he accidently killed Kimmie during consensual sex than to lead police to believe he callously murdered her out of irritation, then defiled her remains to leave police with a mistaken impression she had been raped. See Id.

Defendant was able to explain to the jury how he was seduced into strangling a developmentally disabled sixteen year old girl at her behest despite his profound discomfort with pleasuring her in that way. 14RP

1768-70. He offered the testimony of Kimmie's friend to establish Kimmie's capacity for age-appropriate social interactions, which he linked to erotic asphyxiation in closing argument. 14RP 1826-27. The problem defendant could not avoid is the hard reality Kimmie's life could never have supported defendant's theory of the case with or without evidence someone used Kimmie's laptop to watch bondage pornography. Trained medical professional's nearly misdiagnosed Kimmie's fetal alcohol syndrome as Down syndrome on account of her protruding forehead. 8RP 1157; 14RP 1827. Defendant's own witness admitted her tendency to ignore Kimmie's obvious limitations, acknowledging Kimmie was far more interested in playing with the witness's two year old cousin than interacting with kids her own age. 14RP 1826-27. Id. The witness also impeached defendant's claim he never noticed Kimmie's mental handicaps by acknowledging they made him uncomfortable. 15RP 1876-79; 15RP 1827. Defendant's testimony was further impeached by the State's rebuttal witness (Kimmie's Special Olympics coach) who flatly rejected the notion anyone could ever mistake Kimmie as being anything other than a severely disabled child.15RP 1876-79. It is not reasonably probable admission of the excluded pornography would have changed the outcome of defendant's trial provided one assumes a jury capable of limiting it to some yet to be identified legitimate purpose.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD REFUSE TO REVIEW DEFENDANT'S UNPRESERVED CLAIM THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO SUA SPONTE GIVE AN UNREQUESTED SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFINITION OF RAPE.

Defendants generally cannot challenge a trial court's failure to give a particular jury instruction for the first time on appeal absent "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kronich*, 160 Wn.2d 893, 899, 161 P.3d 982 (2007); *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Only if the claim is found to be constitutional, will the court examine the effect of the error on the trial under a harmless error standard. *Id.*; *State v. Kirkpatrick*, 160 Wn.2d 873, 880, 161 P.3d 990 (2007). A proven omission of an essential element from the jury instructions falls within the narrow category of unpreserved claims capable of appellate review. *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P.3d 415 (2005). But "[f]ailure to give a definitional instruction is not failure to instruct on an essential element." *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 612, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). And "[a] specific instruction need not be given when a more general instruction adequately explains the law and enables the parties to argue their theories of the case." *Id. at* 605.

For the first time on appeal defendant claims the trial court erred in failing to supplement the standard definitions given for the rape aggravator with language explicitly stating the victim had to be alive at the time of penetration. At trial he proposed defining the aggravator as follows: "A person commits the crime of Rape in the First degree when he engages in sexual intercourse with another living person, knowing the other person is living, by forcible compulsion when he kidnaps the other person or inflicts serious physical injury." CP 75 (No. 18) (WPIC 40.01(modified))(emphasis added).

On appeal, defendant rightly concedes this instruction was properly rejected as written, and acknowledges he never proposed a modified version of the instruction that eliminated the inaccurate *mens rea* component while retaining the "living person" language he now claims to be necessary. 16RP 1899-1915. Yet he nevertheless contends the trial court erred in failing to take it upon itself to make the unrequested revision despite the absence of any Washington authority identifying the resulting instruction to be necessary or proper. App. p. 28.<sup>7</sup> Trial courts are not required to rewrite inaccurate statements of law contained in proposed definitional instructions since such instructions are not constitutionally required. *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d at 612. They may be rejected if incorrect in any material respect. *State v. Robinson*, 92 Wn.2d 361, 597 P.2d 892

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court also declined to give defendant's definition of death from *In re Welfare of Bowman*, 94 Wn.2d 407, 421, 617 P.2d 731 (1980), which is not the subject of defendant's appeal and was also without the "living victim" language he claims was erroneously omitted.

(1979). Defendant's unpreserved claim of instructional error should not be reviewed.<sup>8</sup> RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Kronich*, 160 Wn.2d at 899.

3. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PROVE HIS ATTORNEYS WERE INEFFECTIVE IN NOT PROPOSING A NOVEL INSTRUCTION TO EMPHASIZE FORCIBLE RAPE REQUIRES A LIVING VICTIM SINCE THAT UNDISPUTED COMPONENT OF THE CRIME WAS CLEARLY IMPLIED BY THE GIVEN INSTRUCTIONS.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim a defendant must prove his counsel's performance was deficient and that deficiency prejudiced the defense. *State v. Garret*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 518, 881 P.2d 185 (1994) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). Counsel is only constitutionally deficient when the representation is demonstrated to fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 880 P.2d 1251 (1995). "*Strickland* begins with a strong presumption ... counsel's performance was reasonable." *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (citing *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)). "To rebut this presumption, the defendant bears the burden of establishing the absence of any conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." *Id.* at 42 (citing *State v. Richenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); *see also State v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Had the trial court actually refused to give the instruction defendant proposes on appeal the decision would have been harmless if error as the jury was accurately instructed on the applicable law, which enabled defendant to argue his theory of the case. CP 307-44; 16RP 1951-92.

*Piche*, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967), *cert denied*, 390 U.S. 912, 88 S. Ct. 838, 19 L. Ed. 2d 882 (1968). "In assessing performance, the court must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 336, 371, 245 P.3d 776 (2011) (citing *State v. Nichols*, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007)).

#### a. Defendant failed to prove his counsel was deficient.

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